

# Compositional analysis of the Andean fruit *Pouteria Lucuma*

A comparison of different physical forms (powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp)

Elsa Ramberg

Independent project • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Department of Molecular Sciences Agriculture Programme – Food Science Molecular Sciences, 2022:57 Uppsala, 2022

#### Compositional analysis of the Andean fruit *Pouteria Lucuma*. - A comparison of different physical forms (powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp)

Elsa Ramberg

Supervisor:	Santanu Basu, Department of Molecular Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences		
Assistant supervisor:	Armaghan Amanipour, Aventure AB		
Assistant supervisor:	Olof Böök, Aventure AB		
Examiner:	Roger Andersson, Department of Molecular Sciences		
	Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences		

Credits:	30 credits
Level:	A2E
Course title:	Master thesis in Food science
Course code:	EX0877
Programme/education:	Agriculture Programme - Food
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Molecular Sciences
Place of publication:	Uppsala
Year of publication:	2022
Cover picture:	<i>Lucuma fruit</i> (Romagna a tavola n.d.)
	https://www.romagnaatavola.it/wp- content/uploads/romagnaatavola.it/2015/09/lucuma.jpg
Copyright:	All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner.
Title of series:	Molecular Sciences
Part number:	2022:57
Keywords:	Pouteria Lucuma, Powder, frozen pulp, fresh pulp, Total
	phenolic compounds, Antioxidant capacity, D-glucose, D-fructose and Sucrose.

#### Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of molecular sciences

#### Abstract

Lucuma (*Pouteria Lucuma*), an ancient fruit from the Andes, is now increasing in popularity in the global West due to the characteristic flavour and nutritional composition (e.g. high in fibres and phenolic compounds). The shelf life of the fresh fruit is short, therefore it is mainly used as frozen pulp or powder. The company Aventure AB's cooperation with the Bolivian organisation called Swebol biotech aims to develop food products that will promote Bolivian innovation, production, and public health. However, there is a lack of knowledge in the difference in composition and properties between different forms (powder, frozen pulp or fresh pulp) of lucuma. The aim of this thesis was to compare and analyse different forms of lucuma from different producers, as a part of the Aventure-Swebol project.

Three different powders, frozen pulp and fresh pulp were used. Dry matter content, energy content, pH, viscosity, colour, total phenolic compounds (TPC), antioxidant capacity (AC) and Sucrose, D-fructose and D-glucose were analysed. Sensory tests were performed to evaluate sweetness and define sensory characteristics of lucuma. The results showed that dry matter content, energy content, pH and colour was differentiating the most between the powders compared to the frozen and fresh samples. The highest and lowest TPC and AC value was seen in fresh pulp and in frozen pulp respectively. The content of D-glucose was the highest, followed by D-fructose and sucrose in descending order in most samples. The conclusion is that the composition of lucuma varies in the different forms analysed. The reason could be processing technique, variety and biotype, and grade of maturity. More scientific studies are needed to be able to decide what form is most suitable for further product development including health, sensory, technical and sustainability aspects.

*Keywords: Pouteria Lucuma,* powder, frozen pulp, fresh pulp, total phenolic compounds, antioxidant capacity, D-glucose, D-fructose and sucrose.

#### Sammanfattning

Lucuma (*Pouteria Lucuma*) är en uråldrig frukt från Anderna som på grund av sin karakteristiska smak och näringsinnehåll (t.ex. mycket fibrer och fenolföreningar) just nu ökar i popularitet i västvärlden. Hållbarheten hos den färska frukten är kort, vilket gör att den främst används i fryst form eller i pulverform. Företaget Aventure AB håller på att tillsammans den bolivianska organisationen Swebol biotech utveckla en lucumabaserad produkt som ska främja boliviansk innovation, produktion och folkhälsa. Det saknas dock kunskap om vilken form av lucuma (pulver, fryst eller färsk) som lämpar sig bäst. Syftet med detta examensarbete var att jämföra och analysera olika former av lucuma från olika producenter, som en del av Aventure-Swebol-projektet.

Tre olika pulver, fryst frukt och färsk frukt användes. Torrsubstans, energiinnehåll, pH, viskositet, färg, totala fenolföreningar (TPC), antioxidantkapacitet (AC) samt sackaros, D-fruktos och D-glukos analyserades. Sensoriska tester utfördes för att utvärdera sötma och definiera karaktärsdrag hos lucuma. Resultaten visade att torrsubstanshalt, energiinnehåll, pH och färg främst varierade mellan pulvren, jämfört med de frysta och färska proverna. Det högsta och lägsta TPC- och AC-värdet sågs i färsk frukt respektive i fryst frukt. Halten av D-glukos var högst, följt av D-fruktos och sackaros i fallande ordning i de flesta proverna. Slutsatsen blev att sammansättningen av lucuma varierar i de olika former som analyserades. Orsaken kan vara processteknik, sort och biotyp samt mognadsgrad av frukten. Fler studier behövs för att kunna bestämma vilken form som bäst lämpar sig för vidare produktutveckling med hänsyn till hälso-, sensorik och hållbarhetsaspekter.

*Nyckelord: Pouteria Lucuma,* pulver, fryst frukt, färsk frukt, fenoler, antioxidanter, D-glukos, D-fruktos och sackaros.

### Table of contents

List o	of tables	9
List o	of figures	. 10
Abbr	eviations	.12
Intro	duction	. 13
0.1	Aim of this master thesis	. 15
Litera	ature review	. 16
1.1	Cultivation	. 16
1.2	Varieties and biotypes	. 16
1.3	The seed	. 17
1.4	Composition	. 18
	1.4.1 Phenolic compounds	. 18
	1.4.2 Antioxidant activity	. 19
	1.4.3 Sugar	. 19
1.5	Ripeness and postharvest handling	. 20
1.6	Lucuma powder and frozen pulp	.21
1.7	Product development	.21
1.8	Lucuma in Bolivia	. 22
Mate	rials and method	. 23
2.1	Materials for chemical and physical analysis	.23
2.2	Reconstitution of powders	.26
2.3	Pre-treating samples by freeze-drying	.26
2.4	Dry matter content	. 26
2.5	Energy content	. 27
2.6	рН	. 27
2.7	Viscosity	. 27
2.8	Colour	. 27
2.9	Total phenolic compounds	. 28
	2.9.1 Extraction	. 28
	2.9.2 Analysis	. 28
2.10	Antioxidant capacity	. 28

2.11	Sucrose, D-fructose and D-glucose	. 29
	2.11.1Extraction	. 29
	2.11.2Analysis	. 29
2.12	Sensory evaluation	. 30
	2.12.1Materials for sensory evaluation	. 30
	2.12.2Attribute difference test including sweetness	. 30
	2.12.3Descriptive analysis focusing on characteristics	31
2.13	Statistics	. 31
Resu	Ilts and discussion	32
3.1	Dry matter content and energy content	32
3.2	pH, viscosity and colour	. 33
3.3	Total phenolic compounds and antioxidant capacity	36
3.4	D-glucose, D-fructose and Sucrose	. 39
3.5	Sensory evaluation	41
	3.5.1 Sweetness	41
	3.5.2 Characteristics	.41
Cond	clusion and future perspectives	.43
Refe	rences	44
Ρορι	Jar science summary	48
Appe	əndix 1	. 50
Арре	əndix 2	. 51
Арре	əndix 3	. 52
Арре	əndix 4	. 53
Арре	endix 5	. 54
Appe	endix 6	. 55
A		50
Арре	enaix /	. 56

### List of tables

Table 1. The different physical forms of lucuma used in the study and their origin and     nutritional information received from the suppliers.     24
Table 2. Chemicals and equipment used in this study
Table 3. Dry matter and moisture content of different forms of lucuma. P1 -Powder 1, P2 -powder 2, P3 -powder 3, Fro -Frozen, Fre -Fresh and FD -Freeze-driedsample
Table 4. pH, viscosity and colour of different types of lucuma. P1 -Powder 1, P2 -powder2, P3 -powder 3, Fro -Frozen, and Fre -Fresh sample
Table 5. Concentration of D-glucose, D-fructose and sucrose expressed in mg/g DW. P1 -Powder 1, P2 -powder 2, P3 -powder 3, Fro -Frozen, Fre -Fresh and FD -
Freeze-dried sample40

### List of figures

Figure 1. Pouteria Lucuma (Pavón and Ruiz 1798)13
Figure 2. (a) A lucuma less ripe from Peru, (b) A riper lucuma from Peru, (c) Both fruits shown in cross section
Figure 3. Lucuma of the variety Palo (Castillo Málaga 2006)
Figure 4. (a) Lucuma on a market in Bolivia, (b) seeds from the Bolivian lucuma, (c) cross section of the Bolivian lucuma. (Photo by Leslie Karina Tejeda Perez 2022)17
Figure 5. (a) Lucuma in physiological maturity. (b) Lucuma in organoleptic maturity, ripened in climate chamber. (c) Lucuma in organoleptic maturity, matured in ambient climate (Inga et al. 2021)
Figure 6. Woman selling lucuma on a Bolivian market, she is getting her fruits from wild growing trees. (Photo by Leslie Karina Tejeda Perez 2022)
Figure 7. The colours of powder 1 (P1), powder 2 (P2), powder 3 (P3), frozen pulp (Fro) and fresh pulp (Fre)
Figure 8. a* and b* values for the different lucuma samples (P1-powder 1, P2-powder 2, P3-powder 3, Fro-frozen pulp and Fre-fresh pulp). A higher a* value indicates a more red colour and a higher b* value indicates a more yellow colour
Figure 9. L* value for the different lucuma samples (P1-powder 1, P2-powder 2, P3- powder 3, Fro-frozen pulp and Fre-fresh pulp). L*=0 indicates black and L*=100 indicates white
Figure 10. Total phenolic compounds in different forms of lucuma. *The result for the freeze-dried fresh sample is only based on two datapoints
Figure 11. Antioxidant capacity in different forms of lucuma. *The results for the untreated frozen and the untreated fresh sample are only based on three datapoints39
Figure 13. The different products used for analysis. (a) Powder 1, (b) Powder 2, (c) Powder 3, (d) Frozen pulp and (e) Fresh fruits
Figure 14. Standard curve with mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE)51
Figure 15. Standard curve with mg Trolox equivalents (TE)52

Figure 16. Questionnaire for the sensory evaluation of sweetness.	
(https://www.questionpro.com/t/AVKkuZr3xh)5	4
Figure 17. The setup for the sensory test and panel discussion evaluating the	
characteristics of lucuma5	6

### Abbreviations

AC	Antioxidant capacity
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
DW	Dry weight
FD	Freeze-dried
Fre	Fresh pulp
Fro	Frozen pulp
GAE	Gallic acid equivalents
NA	Not available
PC	Phenolic compounds
P1	Powder 1
P2	Powder 2
Р3	Powder 3
TE	Trolox equivalents

#### Introduction

Many countries in Latin America, including Bolivia, are known for having a diverse range of various fruits. Despite their great potential, many of these fruits are still unknown to a big part of the world (Galluzzi & López Noriega 2014). Additionally, the consumption of fruits and vegetables must increase to improve global heath and the environment (Willett et al. 2019). Lucuma (Pouteria lucuma), an ancient fruit known as "gold of the Incas" traditionally grown in the Andean region, is a fruit now finding its way to the global West. See figure 1. During the recent years it has grown in popularity and is increasingly marketed as a superfruit. The number of posts on social media as well as the number of products found on the market including lucuma has increased



market Figure 1. Pouteria Lucuma (Pavón and (FONA Ruiz 1798).

International 2018). Lucuma is claimed to be rich in vitamins, minerals, phenolic compounds and carotenoids (Maza-De la Quintana & Paucar-Menacho 2020). It is also considered to have a high dietary fibre (García-Ríos et al. 2020) and starch content (National Research Council (U.S.) 1989).

Lucuma belongs to the *Sapotaceae* family and is locally known as lucuma, lucmo, lúcuma, lúcumo, mammon, cumala, rucuma or marco (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011). In Bolivia it is also known as Lujmillo<sup>1</sup>. Nowadays it is grown mainly in the Andean region in Ecuador, Peru, and Chile but it is also found in Costa Rica, Mexico and Brazil. (National Research Council (U.S.) 1989). The only place in Europe where it has been cultivated is in some parts of Spain (Gómez-Maqueo et al. 2020). The taste of lucuma is sweet and sometimes described as caramel- or maple-like. The colour of the skin varies from green to yellow and the flesh is yellow or orange depending on variety, biotype and stage of ripeness, see figure 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Leslie Karina Tejeda Perez, Researcher, Universidad Mayor de San Andrés (UMSA), meeting 2022-05-06



Figure 2. (a) A lucuma less ripe from Peru, (b) A riper lucuma from Peru, (c) Both fruits shown in cross section.

The texture of the fresh pulp brings to mind boiled egg yolk (Duarte & Paull 2015). Like many other fruits lucuma is found in different varieties or biotypes. Seda and Palo are two of the most common varieties. Seda is mostly used fresh due to its soft texture, and Palo is more commonly processed due to its woody texture. The pulp of the variety Palo can be frozen or dried and milled into a powder (Duarte & Paull 2015). Since the fresh fruit is easily damaged and maintenance of fruit quality is a major issue in the fresh fruit supply chain, dried and milled powder is the most common form of lucuma on the world market. (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011). A few studies have been done comparing different varieties of lucuma and comparing the fresh lucuma with the lucuma powder, in terms of nutritional composition and bioactive compounds. For example, previous studies on the composition of lucuma has been done by; Machado Annechini et al. (2021) who are comparing drying temperatures on powder; Dini (2011) and Pinto et al. (2009) who are studying phenolic compounds in powder and fresh pulp; García-Ríos et al. (2020) who are comparing different biotypes; Aguilar-Galvez et al. (2021) who are comparing maturity stages and Fuentealba et al. (2016) who are comparing both biotypes and maturity stages. However, there is still a lack of knowledge on chemical and nutritional differences between varieties, biotypes and physical forms (powder, frozen and fresh pulp) of lucuma.

Traditionally, lucuma is consumed fresh, or used in products like ice cream, drinks, puddings or as a natural sweetener (National Research Council (U.S.) 1989). The fresh fruit, frozen pulp or the powder can be used as raw material for making the traditionally consumed lucuma products, depending on availability. Other than shelf life and bioactive compounds the different forms of lucuma vary when it comes to taste, colour and texture, which are all important factors in processed food production.

The company Aventure AB's cooperation with the Bolivian organisation called Swebol biotech aims to develop food products that will promote Bolivian innovation, production, and public health. Lucuma, with its nutritional benefits and very special flavour, is thought to have a great potential as the main ingredient in a new collaborative project for new product development. Lucuma is only grown to limited extent in Bolivia, in the La Paz region, but the potential for extended cultivation is promising (Callisaya 2021). However, there is a lack of knowledge in what form of lucuma is most suitable for product development regarding bioactive compounds such as phenolic compounds, taste such as sweetness, texture and colour.

#### 0.1 Aim of this master thesis

The aim of this thesis was to compare and analyse different forms (powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp) of lucuma fruit from different producers, as a part in the development of a value-added lucuma product that promotes Bolivian innovation.

#### Literature review

#### 1.1 Cultivation

The lucuma tree is an evergreen tree with a height varying between 8 to 15 m. The crown of the lucuma tree is dense and the branches produces a white latex. Lucuma is not considered a tropical plant since it grows at temperate elevations in dry locations. Since the tree usually grows on high elevation it is only affected by a few pests, which is why it is suitable for organic production (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011). It grows on elevations up to 3000 m and cannot stand temperatures below -5 °C. The ideal temperature lies between 18 and 24 °C for fruit development. The lucuma tree sets fruits all year round and the harvest time can vary from October to May depending on where the tree is cultivated (Duarte & Paull 2015). The trees start to produce fruits after 4-5 years (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011). One tree can produce around 500 fruits every year and the fruits usually weigh 250-300 g, but in extreme cases they can weigh up to 1 kg. It takes 8-9 months from anthesis to harvest and the fruit is climacteric which means it will continue to ripen after harvest (Duarte & Paull 2015). When the fruit falls from the tree it is not fully mature and must be stored for several days until it is fully ripened (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011).

#### 1.2 Varieties and biotypes

*Pouteria Lucuma* was previously known as *Lucuma Obovata* (Duarte & Paull 2015). The most common commercially produced varieties of lucuma are Seda and Palo, see figure 3 (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011). Since lucuma is more commercially produced in Peru, these varieties are more common there. Seda has a softer texture and Palo a more woody texture (Duarte & Paull 2015). According to Callisaya (2021) both Seda and Palo can grow on the same tree when the climate is changing very suddenly. The botanical structure of lucuma is not clear. It seems like there are different biotypes within the varieties Seda and Palo.

A biotype belonging to the soft type lucuma is Beltrán 4, which is a result from a selection work in the 1970s at the Universidad Nacional Agraria (UNA) La Molina in Lima. Other biotypes from the same project are Lucuna B-1, Lucuna B-2 and Lucuna R-3 (Duarte & Paull 2015). Additionally Trompito and María Belén are biotypes found in Peru (Alegre Caballero & Del Carmen Ticse Aguilar 2017). The most common biotypes found in Chile are Montero and Rosalía. Biotypes such as Dispersa, Globosa, San Patricio, Vegara, Mercedes and Bozzolo are to be found in Chile as well (Duarte & Paull 2015). Fruit quality seem not only dependent on seedling type, but climate and horticultural practice. Many valuable biotypes are still undiscovered growing in people's backyards (National Research Council (U.S.) 1989). According to Lavado Soto et al. (2012) there are 120 different biotypes of lucuma within the varieties of Seda and Palo.



Figure 3. Lucuma of the variety Palo (Castillo Málaga 2006).

#### 1.3 The seed

The lucuma seed is round, glossy and has high resemblance to chestnut. See figure 4. The seeds are sensitive to drying and cracking (Duarte & Paull 2015) and is constituting 8 to 15 % of the lucuma fruit (Ponce 2017). The seeds are nowadays mostly a waste product even though they are thought to have a great potential. They contain phytosterols which are known to reduce low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (Guerrero-Castillo et al. 2021). According to Rojo et al. (2010) the fatty acids in the lucuma seed promotes skin regeneration.



Figure 4. (a) Lucuma on a market in Bolivia, (b) seeds from the Bolivian lucuma, (c) cross section of the Bolivian lucuma. (Photo by Leslie Karina Tejeda Perez 2022)

#### 1.4 Composition

The pulp of lucuma is yellow, firm, dry, mealy, and sweet. It contains latex until ripened and has one to five brown seeds, usually two (Duarte & Paull 2015). Lucuma is high in carbohydrates and fibres, low in fat and protein content, and is claimed to have various positive health effects. It is considered to act protective to the nervous system due to its high content of vitamin B1, thiamine and niacin (Yapias et al. 2021). According to Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco (2011) lucuma has an anti-inflammatory effect and Fuentealba et al. (2016) is stating that it is antihyperglycemic, partly due to the phenolic compounds found in lucuma. According to Pinto et al. (2009) lucuma is used as a part in the treatment of diabetes. Lucuma is considered to have a high content of dietary fibre, which is thought to be one of the reasons behind its positive health claims (García-Ríos et al. 2020). Additionally lucuma is high in carotenoids, which can be precursors of vitamin A and has been related to reduction of cancer, cardiovascular disorders and bone, skin and eye disorders (Gómez-Maqueo et al. 2020).

#### 1.4.1 Phenolic compounds

Phenolic compounds (PC) are secondary metabolites produced by plants functioning as a part of the plants' defending system, such as insect defence or defence against mechanical damage (Kafkas et al. 2018). There are more than 8000 different PCs found in plants (de la Rosa et al. 2019). PCs are a diverse group of compounds, and they can be either phenolic acids with one aromatic ring or polyphenols with more than one aromatic ring. They can act as antioxidants whose activity is depending on the hydroxyl groups and phenolic rings in the compounds (Minatel et al. 2017). Phenolic acids, flavonoids and tannins are regarded as the most common dietary PCs. A strong correlation has been seen between PC content and the antioxidant activity in fruits and vegetables. It is therefore suggested that the antioxidant mechanism, reducing lipid oxidation in human tissue, is related to decreased risk of developing diseases such as cardiovascular diseases, arteriosclerosis, cancer and diabetes (Minatel et al. 2017). The stability of PCs varies depending on many different factors, for example, interactions with other molecules and bioactive compounds and processing methods such as heating or freezing. Heating has been shown to both increase and decrease the content of phenolic compounds (Minatel et al. 2017).

Previous studies have shown that the total phenolic compounds (TPC) content of lucuma is higher in fresh fruit than in powder. Aqueous extracts gave 11.4 mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE)/g dry weight (DW) for fresh fruit and around 5.5 mg GAE/g DW for powder. However, the antioxidant activity was found to be similar in both forms regardless to the content (Pinto et al. 2009). In the same study ethanolic extracts showed less difference in TPC content, around 3 mg GAE/g DW for fresh fruit and 2 mg GAE/ g DW for powder. Pinto et al. (2009) reported higher antioxidant activity for fresh lucuma (Pinto et al. 2009). The content has also been found to vary between different varieties and stages of ripeness. According to Fuentealba et al. (2016) the total phenolic content (mg GAE/g DW) was found to be  $61.6\pm10.9$ ,  $0.7\pm0.07$  and  $45.3\pm31.9$  in the varieties Rosalia, Montero and Leiva 1 respectively. Additionally, in three different ripeness stages of Levia 1 the total phenolic content was  $131.6\pm2.0$ ,  $45.3\pm32.0$  and  $0.7\pm0.1$  mg GAE/g DW from the least ripe to the ripest. García-Ríos et al. (2020) reported a total phenolic content of  $2.50\pm0.11$  in Beltrán and  $2.38\pm0.13$  mg GAE/g DW in Seda, which is not considered as significantly different. Dini (2011) found that lucuma powder contains a higher amount of phenolics than other fruits usually used in snacks ( $51.1\pm14.1$  mg GAE/1000 g). According to Vallespir et al. (2019) TPC decreased when beetroot, apple and eggplant was pre-treated with freezing and drying.

#### 1.4.2 Antioxidant activity

Antioxidants are compounds that have the capability of reducing free radicals, and thereby have been suggested to reduce the risk of cell damage and diseases related to that. Fruits and vegetables are generally high in antioxidants compared to other foods. There are enzymatic and non-enzymatic natural antioxidants, the latter is divided into four groups: vitamins, carotenoids, polyphenols and minerals (Arias et al. 2022). According to Fuentealba et al. (2016) the antioxidant capacity was varying from  $0.7\pm0.2 \mu$ mol Trolox equivalents (TE)/ g DW in the lucuma biotype Montero to  $132.9\pm35.0 \mu$ mol TE/ g DW in the biotype Rosalia. The same study shows that the antioxidant capacity was varying from  $466.3\pm78.5 \mu$ mol TE/ g DW to  $0.9\pm0.4 \mu$ mol TE/ g DW with the stage of ripeness in the biotype Levia 1. According to García-Ríos et al. (2020) a higher antioxidant capacity was found in the lucuma biotype Beltrán than in Seda.

#### 1.4.3 Sugar

Sugars play an important role in the structure of plant tissue, as carbon building blocks and energy source. They are particularly important during fruit and seed development as well as fruit ripening. Other than that, the sugar content as well as the sweetness of the fruit play an important role in fruit quality (Durán-Soria et al. 2020). The main sugars in lucuma are glucose, fructose and sucrose, starting with the highest concentration. Additionally, sugar alcohols such as myo-inositol are present with a lower concentration than previously mentioned sugars (Aguilar-Galvez et al. 2021; Fuentealba et al. 2016). A study comparing three different lucuma biotypes (Rosalia, Montero and Levia 1) found no differences in the content of total sugars. The same study showed differences in glucose and fructose between the biotypes as well as an increase in the same sugars with ripening stage

(Fuentealba et al. 2016). However, according to García-Ríos et al. (2020) there are no significant differences in glucose, fructose and sucrose content respectively in the varieties Seda and Beltrán. According to Aguilar-Galvez et al. (2021) there was no significant difference in glucose, fructose and sucrose content respectively in two different maturity stages.

#### 1.5 Ripeness and postharvest handling

Matured lucuma is a spherical fruit in the size between 4 to 17 cm in diameter. The fruit is considered to be ripe when the peel changes colour from green to yellow green. However, some fruits keep their green colour even when ripe. See figure 5. When it's ripe the flesh gets softer and it will be easy to loosen the fruit from the tree. Lucuma is a climacteric fruit which means it will continue to ripen after harvest. However, if harvested too early it will not fully ripen but continue to be hard and astringent (Del Castillo Málaga 2006). Fully ripe lucuma sometimes gets a cracked peel and is very sensitive to harsh handling (Duarte & Paull 2015). There is no standard of measuring when lucuma is ripe, however soluble solids and acidity can be used to measure the ripeness (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011). When comparing the composition of lucuma at different ripeness stages, it can be seen that the dry matter content is increasing and that the dietary fibre content is decreasing with maturity (Aguilar-Galvez et al. 2021). The total sugar content has been shown to be increasing with the stage of ripeness (Fuentealba et al. 2016), as well as decreasing (Aguilar-Galvez et al. 2021). Total phenolic compounds and antioxidant capacity has been shown to decrease with ripeness stage (Fuentealba et al. 2016). Other than stage of ripeness, storage conditions can affect the composition of lucuma (Inga et al. 2021).



Figure 5. (a) Lucuma in physiological maturity. (b) Lucuma in organoleptic maturity, ripened in climate chamber. (c) Lucuma in organoleptic maturity, matured in ambient climate (Inga et al. 2021).

Fresh lucuma can be stored in fridge to slow down fast ripening. However, storing the fruit at 7 °C for longer than one week will impact the ripening and the fruit will not ripen uniformly. Keeping the fruit between 13 and 18°C will keep it fresh for two weeks before decaying. Additionally, the fruit is sensitive to water loss, therefore it needs to be kept in high humidity (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011). According to Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco (2011) modified atmosphere can help to keep the fruit quality. Lucuma is often processed by freezing or drying. Before processing the fruit is washed, disinfected, peeled, and seeded. Vacuum packed frozen pulp can be stable for two years without significant changes in quality. Irradiation of the fruit does barely affect the shelf life of the fruit (Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco 2011). Treating the lucuma pulp with hurdle technology, combining lowering of water activity to 0.90 and 0.92 and pH to 4.4 and 4.7 can decrease spoilage of bacteria, yeasts and moulds (Cisneros et al. 2021).

#### 1.6 Lucuma powder and frozen pulp

Lucuma is commonly used in the industry as a powder or frozen pulp. The powder is dehydrated, often sun-dried, and grinded pulp. The colour is slightly brown and the texture is coarse. The powder is used for making ice cream and pastries. It takes around 5kg of fresh fruit to make 1 kg of powder (*Análisis de mercado lucuma* 2021). When comparing different drying temperatures (55 °C, 65 °C and 75 °C), it has been shown that higher temperatures decreases the nutritional value of the powder (Machado Annechini et al. 2021). A problem during the milling in production of lucuma powder can be food waste and loss of product due to ineffective production systems (Lavado Soto et al. 2012). When cutting the fresh lucuma fruit, a natural oxidation will occur which results in a change in colour from yellow to more brown and during sun-drying it is easy to lose in quality, especially in colour and flavour (Del Castillo Málaga 2006). When making the frozen pulp the fruits are prepared by washing, disinfecting, peeling, and deseeding. They are often heat-treated before they are frozen. The usage in the industry is the same as for the powder. (*Análisis de mercado lucuma* 2021).

#### 1.7 Product development

The flavour of lucuma is often referred to as sweet, maple and caramel (Duarte & Paull 2015). It is thought to be a very characteristic flavour not found in many other fruits. (Lavado Soto et al. 2012). A study comparing twelve different lucuma powders and their aroma compounds reports that there are differences in the aroma compounds found in different products but the main attributes in the samples were buttery, sweet, caramelized, waxy, green, nutty, and cucumber. The same study

showed that the difference in rating of lucuma and caramel ice cream among U.S consumers were small. The overall liking, overall aroma liking and overall flavour liking was higher in the lucuma ice cream, whereas the overall liking for texture was higher in the caramel ice cream (Singh 2017). The big variation in varieties and biotypes of lucuma and a lack of knowledge by the producers of the fruit, powder and frozen pulp makes it challenging for product developers to find raw material that keeps a consistent quality (Del Castillo Málaga 2006).

#### 1.8 Lucuma in Bolivia

In Bolivia lucuma is often referred to as lujmillo. There has not been a great interest for commercially produced lucuma in the population of Bolivia. However, the demand for lucuma and lucuma-products is increasing and in the Rio Abajo, La Paz region and the Cota Cota, La Paz region the pre-requisites to grow lucuma are promising (Callisaya 2021).

Since the number and range of fruits in the Andes are very huge, it is not uncommon with confusion in the naming of fruits. Another fruit, known as quince in English, is in Latin America known as membrillo or lucuma (Silliman 1831). The scientific name is *Cydonia Oblonga* and it belongs to the family *Rosáceas* (Vivero n.d.)

Bolivian production of fruits and vegetables are very local, and the production is often not more extended than what can be sold on the local market<sup>2</sup>, see figure 6. Lucuma is a regional fruit which has potential to grow in popularity and find its way to the global and domestic food market, and thereby help the economy of the Bolivian farmers.



Figure 6. Woman selling lucuma on a Bolivian market, she is getting her fruits from wild growing trees. (Photo by Leslie Karina Tejeda Perez 2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Leslie Karina Tejeda Perez, Researcher, Universidad Mayor de San Andrés (UMSA), meeting 2022-05-06

#### Materials and method

# 2.1 Materials for chemical and physical analysis

The lucuma powder was supplied from three different commercial companies using fruit pulp from Peru. The fresh lucuma fruit from Peru was procured and supplied by the company Bud Holland. The frozen lucuma pulp was supplied by Syros, using fruit from Peru. The powders with brand name NXTDRIED, Ecoandino and Rawpowder will be referred to as Powder 1 (P1), Powder 2 (P2) and Powder 3 (P3) respectively. See Appendix 1. The frozen and fresh pulp will be referred to as Fro and Fre respectively. The freeze-dried samples will be referred with a prefix FD such as FDP1, FDP2, FDP3, FDFro and FDFre. The different forms of lucuma used for the study and their nutritional information, provided by the suppliers, are listed in table 1. There was no nutritional information available from the supplier of the fresh fruit. The powders were stored in a dry and dark storage room at ambient temperature until use. Frozen lucuma pulp was stored in the freezer at -18 °C until use and the fresh lucuma fruit was stored in the fridge in 4-5 °C until use, according to the instructions from the supplier.

	Powder 1 (P1)	Powder 2 (P2)	Powder 3 (P3)	Frozen (Fro)	Fresh (Fre)
Supplier	NXTDRIED	Ecoandino	Rawpowder	Syros	Bud holland
Origin	Peru	Huaral, Peru	Huaral, Peru	Peru	Peru
Nutritional					
information					
(per  100g)	252 0/1472 9	257 2/1405 5	206/1200	110/462	
Energy (kcal/kJ)	352.0/14/3.8	357.2/1495.5	306/1290	110/462	NA
Total fat (g)	1.3	0.36	1.1	< 0.5	NA
Of which saturated	0.0	NA	0.3	< 0.1	NA
fat (g)					
Carbohydrate (g)	80.7	84.34	57.3	20.8	NA
Of which sugars (g)	33.9	NA	31.6	15.4	NA
Dietary fibre (g)	28.2	23.66	25.9	9.9	NA
Protein (g)	4.4	4.15	4	1.7	NA
Salt (g)	0.5	NA	< 0.1	0.04	NA
Vitamin C (mg)	5.6	NA	NA	NA	NA
Vitamin A	495	NA	NA	NA	NA
(µg retinol)					
Moisture (%)	NA	<7	NA	NA	NA

*Table 1. The different physical forms of lucuma used in the study and their origin and nutritional information received from the suppliers.* 

Note: Not available (NA)

Information about varieties or biotypes were not available from the suppliers. None of the powders were freeze-dried during production, Powder 1 was dried using a vacuum-microwave drying technology and Powder 2 and 3 were air-dried. The forms (powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp) and suppliers of lucuma was limited to what was available at the time of the project, unfortunately Bolivian lucuma could not be received at the time of the project. Chemicals and equipment used are listed in table 2. All measurements were performed in duplicates, repeated once (n=4). Two fresh fruits were used for each analysis.

Chemicals and equipment	Supplier		
Chemicals			
Acetone 99.9 %	Merck, Germany		
(Dissolved in distilled water to 70 % v/v)			
β-Fructosidase (pH 4.6), lyophilised powder	Megazyme, USA		
(Dissolved in 20 ml of distilled water)			
Buffer (pH 7.6) plus sodium aside (0.02 % w/v)	Megazyme, USA		
as a preservative			
Distilled water			
2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH)	Thermo scientific, Germany		
Folin-Ciocalteu reagent	VWR chemicals		
Gallic acid	Merck, Germany		
Hexokinase plus glucose-6-phosphate	Megazyme, USA		
dehydrogenase suspension			
Methanol 99.9 %	Fisher chemicals, Belgium		
NADP+ plus ATP	Megazyme, USA		
(Dissolved in 22 ml of distilled water)			
Phosphoglucose isomerase suspension	Megazyme, USA		
Sodium carbonate 20 % w/v	Sigma-Aldrich, Germany		
Trolox	Thermo Scientific, Germany		
Equipment			
Mixer	Bamix, Switzerland		
Brookfield Ametek DV-1 LV viscometer	Brookfield, USA		
Centrifuge Eppendorf Centrifuge 5804 R	Eppendorf, Germany		
Coffee grinder	Bosch, Germany		
Freeze-dryer Christ Alpha 1-4	Christ, Germany		
Freezer -80 °C, Forma Scientific Bio-Freezer	Forma Scientific, USA		
Incubator	Binder, Germany		
Konica Minolta Spectrophotometer CM-700d	Konica Minolta, Japan		
Magnetic stirrer RCT basic	IKA labortechnik,Germany		
Orbital shaker IKA®¬KS 130 Basic	IKA, Germany		
Oven	Termaks, Norway		
Parr 6200 Calorimeter with a standard	Parr Instrument, USA		
1108P Oxygen Bomb			
pH meter FiveEasy plus	Mettler Toledo, Switzerland		
Pipettes	Eppendorf, Germany;		
	Sartorious, Germany		
Spectrophotometer PerkinElmer Lambda Bio +	PerkinElmer, USA		
Weighing Scale AG204 DeltaRange (four decimals)	Mettler Toledo, Switzerland		

Table 2. Chemicals and equipment used in this study

#### 2.2 Reconstitution of powders

The three powders used in this study were reconstituted by mixing with 60 % distilled water, e.g. for making 100 g of reconstituted powders 40 g powder and 60 g of distilled water was used. Reconstitutes were used together with the thawed frozen pulp and the mixed (using a mixer) fresh pulp for analysis of pH and viscosity. The same samples were used for the pre-treatment of freeze-drying.

#### 2.3 Pre-treating samples by freeze-drying

Reconstituted powders, thawed frozen pulp and mashed fresh fruit were spread in aluminium trays and kept in -80 °C until freeze-drying, to perform the same pretreatment on all samples. Samples were then freeze-dried for 5 days with an ice condenser temperature of -55 °C and a pressure of 0.770 mbar, corresponding to a temperature of -23 °C. After freeze-drying samples were grinded in a coffee grinder and sieved through a 355 mm sieve. Thereafter, samples were kept in -18 °C until further analysis. The weight of the sample was measured before and after freeze-drying. Since not many previous studies has been performed comparing powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp, for analysis of dry matter content, total phenolic content, antioxidant capacity and sucrose, D-fructose and D-glucose, the analysis was performed both with samples in their original form (fresh, thawed frozen and powder) and samples with the pre-treatment of freeze-drying to be able to evaluate the methods.

#### 2.4 Dry matter content

Dry matter was determined by using a slightly modified AOAC (2000) method. Aluminium vessels made from aluminium foil were dried at 105 °C for three hours and cooled in desiccator for 15 min. 3 g of sample was placed in vessels, dried for 48 h and cooled in desiccator for 30 min before weighing. Moisture content was calculated according to the following equation:

$$\frac{W1 - W2}{W1} * 100 = \% of moisture$$

W1=Weight of sample before drying (g) W2=Weight of sample after drying (g)

The dry matter (%) was calculated by subtracting the moisture content from 100.

#### 2.5 Energy content

Only the freeze-dried samples were used to find the energy content. It was measured by using a Parr 6200 Calorimeter with a standard 1108P Oxygen Bomb. The method obtained from the manufacturer was used. Approximately 1.5 g of freezedried grinded and sieved lucuma powder sample was used to form a pellet. Results were obtained in mega joule (MJ)/Kg and calculated to kilo joule (kJ)/100 g and kilo calories (kcal)/100 g.

#### 2.6 pH

The pH was measured using a pH meter in the reconstituted powders (60 % water), thawed frozen pulp and fresh fruit at room temperature. The pH meter was calibrated with a three-point calibration.

#### 2.7 Viscosity

The viscosity was measured, using a viscometer, in the reconstituted powders (60 % water), thawed frozen pulp and fresh fruit (mixed) at room temperature. The rotations speed of 0.3 rpm and the spindle model LV-5 (65) supplied from the manufacturer was used for all the samples. The viscosity (Pa s) was only measured at the end point after 3 min.

#### 2.8 Colour

To analyse the colour, samples were put in a non-transparent cup in a dark bag and a spectrophotometer was used for measurements. For colour measurements, powders were used in their original form, the frozen pulp was thawed, and the fresh pulp was mashed. Results were expressed in a\*, b\* and L\*, where a higher a\* value indicates a more red colour, a higher b\* value indicates a more yellow colour and L\* is a measurement of light where 0=black and 100=white (Konica Minolta u.å.)

#### 2.9 Total phenolic compounds

#### 2.9.1 Extraction

Extraction was performed by using a combined method of Xu & Chang (2008) and Lutz et al. (2015). 0.25 g of frozen and fresh pulp, and 0.5 g of powder (both untreated and freeze-dried samples) were mixed with 5 ml of acetone (70 %) in centrifuge tubes. The samples were shaken for 3 h at room temperature at a speed of 320 rpm on an orbital shaker. The samples were kept in the dark for 13 h, before centrifuging at 4 °C and at a speed of 4000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatants were transferred to new tubes and kept at 4 °C. 5 ml of acetone (70 %) was added to the residues and the procedure was repeated. The two extracts were combined and stored at 4 °C until TPC analysis. Remaining extracts were stored at -18 °C for analysis of antioxidant capacity.

#### 2.9.2 Analysis

The TPC content was determined by using a modified method of Singleton & Rossi (1965). 100  $\mu$ l of sample extract, 50  $\mu$ l of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, 150  $\mu$ l of 20 % w/v Sodium Carbonate and 700  $\mu$ l of distilled water was mixed and incubated for 30 min at 37 °C. The absorbance was read at 765 nm and the values were compared with a standard curve of gallic acid ranging from 7.8-250 GAE mg/l, Appendix 2. Distilled water was used as a blank. Total phenolic content (TPC) was calculated by using the average absorbance for each sample. Results were expressed as mg GAE/g DW.

#### 2.10 Antioxidant capacity

The method of Vuong et al. (2013) was used to find the DPPH radical scavenging activity. A stock solution was prepared by dissolving 24 mg DPPH with 100 ml methanol and then stored at -20 °C until required. The working solution was prepared fresh before each measurement by mixing 10 ml stock solution with 45 ml methanol to obtain an absorbance at 515 nm of  $1.1\pm0.02$ . A volume of 3.8 ml of the working solution was added to 0.2 ml of sample extract (from TPC analysis). It was incubated in darkness at room temperature for 3 h before measuring the absorbance at 515 nm. Distilled water was used as a blank. Trolox was used as the standard for a calibration curve (2.5 mg/l-160 mg/l), Appendix 3, and the results were expressed as  $\mu$ mol of TE/g DW). The absorbance was used to calculate the amount of TE/g DW.

#### 2.11 Sucrose, D-fructose and D-glucose

The contents of sucrose, D-fructose and D-glucose were determined using commercial enzymatic assays (K-SUFRG, Megazyme International, Bray, Ireland). The analysis was performed on both the untreated samples and the freeze-dried samples. In short, this involved converting each sugar to glucose-6-phosphate (G6P) and quantifying NADPH after oxidation in the presence of NADP + and G6P-dehydrogenase. The results were expressed in mg/g of dry sample (Megazyme u.å.).

#### 2.11.1 Extraction

Approximately 0.5 g of the sample was mixed with 50 ml of distilled water with a magnetic stirrer (300-360 rpm for 5-10 min). 50 ml of distilled water was then added, and the solution was filtered through Whatman filter paper no. 1 (Megazyme u.å.).

#### 2.11.2 Analysis

Analysis of the extractions were performed according to assay scheme following the kit instructions, Appendix 4. The absorbance was read at 340 nm. Distilled water was used as a blank. Following equations were used to obtain the results.

Determination of free D-glucose:

 $\Delta A_{D-glucose} = (A2 - A1)_{sample} - (A2 - A1)_{blank}$ (From the D-glucose/ D-fructose sample).

Determination of sucrose:

 $\Delta A_{sucrose} = \Delta A_{total D-glucose} - \Delta A_{D-glucose}$ 

(From the D-glucose/D-fructose sample)

 $\Delta A_{total D-glucose} = (A2 - A1)_{sample} - (A2 - A1)_{blank}$  (From the sucrose sample)

Determination of free D-fructose:  $\Delta A_{D-fructose} = (A3 - A2)_{sample} - (A3 - A2)_{blank}$ (From D-glucose/D-fructose sample only).

 $\Delta A$  stands for average absorbance of the different samples. The values of  $\Delta A_{D-glucose}$ ,  $\Delta A_{sucrose}$  and  $\Delta A_{D-fructose}$  had to be at least 0.100 absorbance units to achieve sufficiently accurate results.

The concentration of D-glucose, sucrose and D-fructose was then calculated according to following equation:

$$c = \frac{V \times M \times \Delta A}{\varepsilon \times d \times v}$$

c = concentration (g/l)

V = final volume (ml)

M = molecular weight of the substance assayed (g/mol)

 $\varepsilon$  = extinction coefficient of NADPH at 340 nm = 6300 (1 x mol<sup>-1</sup> x cm<sup>-1</sup>)

d = light path (cm)

v = sample volume (ml)

#### 2.12 Sensory evaluation

All the samples tested during the sensory evaluation were randomised and coded with three-digit codes.

#### 2.12.1 Materials for sensory evaluation

- Plastic spoons
- Cups and lidded containers
- Wafers
- Drinking water
- Questionnaire, Appendix 5 and 6
- Lucuma samples (3 reconstituted powders (with 60 % water), 1-2 frozen pulp (thawed to room temp) and 1 fresh pulp (mixed and in room temp)
- Reference samples (sucrose and water solution) with determined sweetness
  - 2 % sucrose, 7.5 % sucrose and 16 % sucrose. Corresponding to 2, 7.5 and 15 on a 15 point scale (Baron 2021).

#### 2.12.2 Attribute difference test including sweetness

The test was performed to evaluate the sweetness of the five different samples of lucuma. The test was done at Aventure office and 15 persons joined in the sample test. 10 g of the 5 samples (3 samples of reconstituted powders (with 60% water)), 1 sample of frozen pulp (thawed to room temp) and 1 sample of fresh pulp (mixed and at room temp) were served in randomised order in cups. Samples were tested individually with water and wafers in between to neutralise. Panellists were asked to rate the sweetness (individually for the 5 samples) on a 1-15 scale comparing with determined reference samples corresponding to the sweetness of 2, 7.5 and 15 on the scale.

#### 2.12.3 Descriptive analysis focusing on characteristics

For the sensory evaluation of the characteristics of lucuma an additional frozen pulp from the supplier Frutti Mania was used, originating from Bolivia, Ecuador, Peru, Central America, Colombia and Venezuela (Distribuidora Latinoandina 2020). The test was performed to answer the question: What descriptors can be used for profiling the flavours of Pouteria lucuma?

5-7 panellists were chosen in a way to get a diversity in age, gender and cultural background. They were asked not to have coffee right before the test and to not wear perfume the day of the test. The session was during a period of 1 h. 6 samples (3 reconstituted powders (with 60 % water), 2 frozen pulp (thawed to room temp) and 1 fresh pulp (mixed and at room temp) were served in randomised order in lidded containers. Samples were tested individually with water and wafers in between to neutralise. See Appendix 7.

Panellists were asked to answer the questions individually. They were allowed to write as many association words as they liked. The questions to answer were:

- What are your first associations when it comes to aroma?
- When tasting the sample, what are your first associations?
- What are your first associations when it comes to texture?

When everyone was finished, the panel leader wrote all the words for each category (aroma, taste and texture) on the board and the panel discussed together agreeing on five to six key sensory attribute words describing lucuma for each category.

#### 2.13 Statistics

All measurements except for the sensory tests were done in duplicates and repeated once, giving n=4 for each chemical and physical analysis. Results were expressed as mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation. Minitab was used to perform one-way Analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Tukeys test (<0.05) for mean comparison.

#### Results and discussion

#### 3.1 Dry matter content and energy content

The highest value of dry matter content was in the freeze-dried powder 3 (FDP3) and the lowest was in the frozen pulp (Fro), 94.18±0.19 % and 36.99±0.12 % respectively. See table 3. There was no significant difference of the dry matter content between powder 1 (P1), powder 2 (P2) and powder 3 (P3) and their respectively freeze-dried form. However, a significant difference was seen between P1 and FDP1 compared to P2, FDP2, P3 and FDP3. This could be due to different drying methods adopted (vacuum-microwave drying vs air drying), different varieties and biotypes of fruits and different ripening stage used in manufacturing of the different powders. The dry matter content is significantly lower in the untreated Fro and fresh pulp (Fre) than in the freeze-dried samples. According to the manufacturer of P2, the moisture content is supposed to be <7 %, it was found to be 7.03 %. Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco (2011), Del Castillo Málaga (2006) and García-Ríos et al. (2020) found the moisture content of fresh lucuma to be 62 %, 72.3 % and 56.9 % respectively in their studies. According to Fuentealba et al. (2016) the moisture content of the biotype Levia 1 was decreasing from 72.3 % to 57.8 % with the stage of ripeness. These results are similar to the results from this study where the moisture content was found to be 60.04 % of the untreated fresh pulp, with a relatively high standard deviation which indicates a difference between the pulp from the two fresh fruits analysed.

The energy content was only measured on freeze-dried samples. It was found to be the highest in P2 and lowest in Fre,  $416.47\pm0.91$  kcal/100 g and  $153.28\pm0.94$  kcal/100 g respectively. There was no significant difference between the powders but a significant difference between the powders, frozen and fresh sample. See table 3. The energy content values reported by the manufacturers (P1-352 kcal/100 g, P2-357.2 kcal/100 g, P3-306 kcal/100 g and Fro-110 kcal/100 g) are lower than what was found in this study. According to Yahia & Guttierrez-Orozco (2011) the energy content of fresh fruit was 143.8 kcal/100 g, which is also slightly lower than the results from this study. The reason for this could be different analysing methods and/or varying moisture content.

	P1	P2	P3	Fro	Fre
Dry matter content (%)					
Untreated	$88.38{\pm}0.09^{\rm BC}$	$92.97{\pm}0.07^{\rm A}$	$91.70{\pm}0.03^{\rm AB}$	$36.99 \pm 0.12^{D}$	$39.96 \pm 4.92^{D}$
Freeze-dried	$88.88{\pm}0.05^{\rm BC}$	93.65±0.13 <sup>A</sup>	94.18±0.19 <sup>A</sup>	86.98±0.31 <sup>C</sup>	$87.93 \pm 1.12^{BC}$
Moisture content (%)					
Untreated	11.62	7.03	8.30	63.01	60.04
Freeze-dried	11.12	6.35	5.82	13.03	12.07
Energy content					
kcal/100g	$403.74{\pm}1.32^{\rm B}$	$416.47 \pm 0.91^{A}$	$414.71 \pm 0.57^{A}$	$164.53 \pm 0.43^{\circ}$	$153.28 \pm 0.94^{D}$
kJ/100g	1690.69	1744.00	1736.63	688.97	704.04

Table 3. Dry matter and moisture content of different forms of lucuma. P1 -Powder 1, P2 -powder 2, P3 -powder 3, Fro -Frozen, Fre -Fresh and FD -Freeze-dried sample.

Note: Different letters within the same category stand for significant differences (p < 0.05).

#### 3.2 pH, viscosity and colour

pH and viscosity were measured in the reconstituted powders, thawed frozen pulp and mixed fresh pulp, all at room temperature. The highest pH value was found in P1 and the lowest in Fre, 5.38±0.02 and 5.00±0.06 respectively. There was no significant difference in pH between the frozen and the fresh sample. See table 4. Garcia-Rios (2016) reported a pH of 5.60±0.02 and 5.50±0.04 of fresh lucuma pulp in the biotype Beltrán and Seda respectively. According to Alegre Caballero & Del Carmen Ticse Aguilar (2017) the pH of frozen lucuma pulp was 4.8, 4.9 and 4.6 in the biotype Baltrán, Trompito and María Belén respectively. No previous studies have been found on the pH in reconstituted powders.

The viscosity was higher in the fresh pulp compared to the reconstituted powders at a shear rate of 0.3 rpm. The highest value of viscosity was found in Fre and the lowest in P3,  $3091\pm154$  Pa s and  $1076\pm310$  Pa s respectively. The viscometer and spindle used could not manage to measure the thawed frozen pulp due to a too high viscosity. See table 4. The data was only obtained at the end point, after 3 min.

Table 4. pH, viscosity and colour of different types of lucuma. P1 -Powder 1, P2 -powder 2, P3 - powder 3, Fro -Frozen, and Fre -Fresh sample.

	P1	P2	P3	Fro	Fre
pН	$5.38{\pm}0.02^{\rm B}$	$5.44{\pm}0.04^{\rm A}$	$5.33{\pm}0.09^{\rm B}$	$5.03 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	$5.00 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$
Viscosity (Pa s)	1586±96 <sup>C</sup>	2326±496 <sup>B</sup>	1076±310 <sup>C</sup>	Not	3091±154 <sup>A</sup>
				determined	
$\mathbf{N}$ $\mathbf{D}$			1.0 .	· C 1 · CC	( ,

Note: Different letters within the same row stand for significant differences (p < 0.05).

Colour was measured in the dried powders, thawed frozen pulp and mashed fresh pulp. The highest a\* and b\* value was found in Fro, the lowest a\* value was found in P1 and the lowest b\* value was found in P2. Comparing the a\* (red colour) and b\* (yellow colour) in the frozen and fresh sample, they are more similar than comparing with the powders. See figure 7. However, the b\* values for the frozen and fresh sample were significantly different. The b\* values for the powders shows no significant difference, but there was significant difference between P1 and P3 in the a\* values. This indicates that Fro and Fre are more red and yellow than the powders. See figure 8. The results for L\* (light) indicates that the powders are lighter than the frozen pulp and fresh pulp. The highest L\* value was measured in P1 and the lowest in Fro. All the samples were significantly different except for P1 and P2. See figure 9. It could be discussed whether the differences in colours and light between the powders and the fresh and frozen pulp are an effect of the drying process where a browning, probably as a result of the Maillard reaction or enzymatic browning, occurred. Additionally, the type of fruit and maturity stage could affect the colour (Somjai et al. 2022).



Figure 7. The colours of powder 1 (P1), powder 2 (P2), powder 3 (P3), frozen pulp (Fro) and fresh pulp (Fre).

According to García-Ríos et al. (2020) the fresh lucuma pulp has an a\* value of  $16.6\pm3.0$  and  $13.9\pm5.4$ , a b\* value of  $68.8\pm3.2$  and  $52.6\pm6.9$ , and a L\* value of  $71.6\pm2.3$  and  $69.2\pm3.6$  in the varieties Beltrán and Seda respectively. Aguilar-Galvez et al. (2021) reported a\* values of  $1.9\pm2.2$  and  $9.8\pm1.4$ , b\* values of  $38.3\pm9.4$  and  $47.8\pm0.9$  and L\* values of  $81.2\pm1.7$  and  $76.2\pm1.3$  of the fresh lucuma

pulp before physiological maturity and at physiological maturity respectively. These are comparable to the values of the fresh pulp of this study (a\* ( $18.53\pm1.39$ ), b\* ( $55.23\pm1.39$ ) and L\* ( $54.50\pm0.89$ )).

Alegre Caballero & Del Carmen Ticse Aguilar (2017) reported a\* values of  $15.14\pm0.055$ ,  $15.26\pm0.087$  and  $16.61\pm0.494$ , b\* values of  $54.29\pm0.182$ ,  $55.92\pm0.618$  and  $55.30\pm0.488$  and L\* values of  $60.13\pm0.298$ ;  $59.83\pm0.730$  and  $61.08\pm0.246$  in frozen pulp in the biotypes Beltrán, Trompito and María Belén respectively. These values can be compared to the colour measurements of frozen pulp in this study (a\* ( $21.10\pm0.84$ ), b\* ( $57.36\pm4.15$ ) and L\* ( $53.15\pm0.19$ )). No results of colour measurements of lucuma powder were found in previous studies.



Figure 8. a\* and b\* values for the different lucuma samples (P1-powder 1, P2-powder 2, P3-powder 3, Fro-frozen pulp and Fre-fresh pulp). A higher a\* value indicates a more red colour and a higher b\* value indicates a more yellow colour.



Figure 9.  $L^*$  value for the different lucuma samples (P1-powder 1, P2-powder 2, P3-powder 3, Fro-frozen pulp and Fre-fresh pulp).  $L^*=0$  indicates black and  $L^*=100$  indicates white.

## 3.3 Total phenolic compounds and antioxidant capacity

The content of total phenolic compounds (TPC) and antioxidant capacity (AC) was measured in the untreated samples as well as the freeze-dried. The highest content of TPC was found in Fre and the lowest in FDFro, 13.03±13.35 mg GAE/g DW and 2.02±0.09 mg GAE/g DW respectively. According to Vallespir et al. (2019) TPC decreases when beetroot, apple and eggplant was pre-treated with freezing and drying. A similar trend can be seen in this study.

Comparing with previous studies Fuentealba et al. (2016) reports that the total phenolic content (mg GAE/g DW) was found to be  $61.6\pm10.9$ ,  $0.7\pm0.07$  and  $45.3\pm31.9$  in the varieties Rosalia, Montero and Leiva 1 respectively. Additionally, in three different ripeness stages of Levia 1 the total phenolic content was  $131.6\pm2.0$ ,  $45.3\pm32.0$  and  $0.7\pm0.1$  mg GAE/g DW from the least ripe to the ripest. García-Ríos et al. (2020) reported a total phenolic content of  $2.50\pm0.11$  in Beltrán and  $2.38\pm0.13$  mg GAE/g DW in Seda.

The standard deviation in the TPC content of the untreated fresh sample was very large. See figure 10. The TPC content has been reported to decrease with ripeness (Fuentealba et al. 2016). The two lucuma fruits used for the analysis of TPC were in different ripening stages, which is probably why the standard deviation was so high. When analysing the TPC and measuring the absorbance of the FDFre one of the samples had an absorbance higher than the instrument could detect at 765 nm. Therefore, the TPC value for FDFre was only based on pulp from one fruit.

Additionally, the untreated fresh sample and the freeze-dried fresh sample was not based on the same fruits. These factors are probably some of the reasons for the big difference in TPC content of Fre and FDFre. TPC for this form of product would probably be higher as we could not include the very high absorbance value from the other measurement for TPC calculation. No significant difference can be seen in the TPC content of P1, FDP1, P2, FDP2, P3, FDP3, Fro and FDFro. A small decrease in TPC content was seen in FDFro compared to Fro. The same trend was not found in P1, P2 and P3.

Phenolic compounds are sometimes bound tightly in to the food matrix and is hard to dissolve (Zhang et al. 2020). Since the food matrix is a very complex system and is easily affected by different factors such as temperature and addition of ingredients (Capuano et al. 2018) it could be discussed whether disturbing or changing the food matrix of the different forms of lucuma, as is done during drying, dissolving in water, freezing, heating and freeze-drying, affects the bound phenolics to dissolve in a varying degree. This could be a reason for the increase of TPC between the untreated powders and the freeze-dried form and the decrease of TPC between the untreated frozen pulp and the freeze-dried form. Due to this trend, it seems like reconstituted powders (60% water) are better in retaining phenolic compounds compared to fresh or frozen lucuma pulp during freeze-drying.

Previous studies have reported a higher TPC content in fresh pulp than in powder with similar results to this study (Pinto et al. 2009). However, no previous studies were performed comparing the TPC content in the powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp of lucuma.

Additionally, it has been reported that the method using Folin-Ciocalteu regent for determining the TPC content is not completely accurate since the Folin-Ciocalteu regent also can react with compounds such as reducing sugars, ascorbic acid and reducing amino acids (Granato et al. 2016). Hence, this could skew the results.



#### Total phenolic compounds

Figure 10. Total phenolic compounds in different forms of lucuma. \*The result for the freeze-dried fresh sample is only based on two datapoints.

The antioxidant capacity (AC) was also following a similar pattern like the TPC content. See figure 11. The highest AC value was found in Fre and the lowest in FDFro,  $7798\pm6258 \mu mol TE/g DW$  and  $466\pm99 \mu mol TE/g DW$  respectively. The standard deviation for the untreated fresh sample was very large. The AC has been reported to decrease with ripeness similarly to the TPC content (Fuentealba et al. 2016). The two lucuma fruits used for the analysis were in different ripening stages, which is probably why the standard deviation was so high. One measurement for the untreated frozen and fresh sample gave negative values of  $\mu mol TE$  when performing the calculations. That datapoint was ignored, which is why the results for the antioxidant capacity for the untreated frozen and fresh sample was based on only three datapoints.

Fuentealba et al. (2016) reports AC values for fresh pulp lower than what was found in this study 132.9 $\pm$ 35.0 µmol TE/g DW and 0.7 $\pm$ 0.2 µmol TE/g DW for the biotypes Rosalia and Montero respectively. García-Ríos et al. (2020) found similar results in the biotypes Beltrán and Seda, 19.3 $\pm$ 1.3 µmol TE/ g DW and 17.3 $\pm$ 1.0 µmol TE/ g DW respectively. The reason for the big difference in results could be stage of ripening or that different extraction methods were used. No comparable results from previous studies were found on AC in powder and frozen pulp.

The untreated fresh sample was the only sample that had a significantly different AC than the other samples. The treatment of freeze-drying seems to have a big impact on the AC since the difference in Fre and FDFre was very big. However, the untreated fresh sample and the freeze-dried fresh sample was not based on the same fruits, which could also affect the results.



#### Antioxidant capacity

Figure 11. Antioxidant capacity in different forms of lucuma. \*The results for the untreated frozen and the untreated fresh sample are only based on three datapoints.

Many phenolic compounds have antioxidative properties (Minatel et al. 2017) which is probably why the TPC content and the AC was mostly following the same pattern. See figure 10 and 11. Since the TPC and AC values are lowest in the frozen pulp it could be discussed whether the transformation of liquid water into ice, resulting in factors such as change in volume of the internal water when it is converting to ice and appearance of ice crystals in varying size, lead to breakage of the cellular walls and thereby promoted loss and/or oxidation of TPC and antioxidants. Even though there was not a significant difference between the TPC content, and the antioxidant capacity values in the different powders and their freeze-dried form, it seems like the different drying techniques, or the different biotypes used when producing the powder had an impact on the TPC and AC. However, this must be studied further to be able to draw any conclusions.

Lastly, the extraction methods used for the TPC and AC analysis has not been well studied before, and it can be discussed whether the extraction of the untreated powders, frozen pulp and fresh pulp can be comparable since the two later contains more water.

#### 3.4 D-glucose, D-fructose and Sucrose

All samples except for P3 and FDP3 had a higher content of D-glucose than D-fructose (Table 5). Sucrose had the lowest content in all samples. Previous studies has shown the same trend (Aguilar-Galvez et al. 2021; Fuentealba et al. 2016). The highest value of D-glucose was found in FDFro and the lowest in Fre, 187.8 mg/g DW and 35.27 mg/g DW respectively. The highest value of D-fructose was found

in FDP2 and the lowest in Fre, 109.5 mg/g DW and 30.89 mg/g DW respectively. The highest value of sucrose was found in FDP2 and the lowest in Fre, 69.17 mg/g DW and 13.62 mg/g DW respectively. The content of sucrose in P1, FDP1, Fro and FDFro was too low to detect. See table 5. The analysis of Fro and Fre resulted in much lower sugar values than the analysis of FDFro and FDFre. A reason for this could be the difference in matrix of the untreated frozen and fresh pulp and the freeze-dried and grinded same samples, where the sugar molecules probably are more easily dissolved and less bound in the freeze-dried samples. Another reason for the increased sugar content in the freeze-dried samples could be that the freezedried samples were grinded to a powder. The powders have less particle size and more surface area than the same amount of frozen pulp and fresh pulp, which were extracted by mixing with solvent with a magnetic stirrer. Therefore, it could be assumed that the results from the freeze-dried samples gave more accurate results. There was no significant difference between the untreated samples P1, P2, P3 and FDP1, FDP2, FDP3 in the analysis of D-fructose and sucrose. In the analysis of Dglucose there was only a significant difference between the untreated and freezedried samples of P1. For the sugar analysis it could be suggested to use the pretreatment of freeze-drying before extraction to obtain as accurate results as possible.

	P1	P2	P3	Fro	Fre
D-Glucose					
(mg/g DW)					
Untreated	$164.39 \pm 2.06^{\circ}$	$112.18 \pm 0.90^{D}$	$97.17 \pm 1.41^{E}$	$35.73{\pm}1.94^{\rm F}$	$35.27 {\pm} 2.60^{\text{F}}$
Freeze-dried	$179.14 \pm 7.03^{AB}$	$122.15 \pm 5.00^{D}$	$99.82{\pm}0.96^{\rm E}$	$187.84 \pm 7.21^{A}$	$167.69 \pm 10.21^{BC}$
D-Fructose					
(mg/g DW)					
Untreated	$108.03{\pm}1.65^{AB}$	$102.80 \pm 1.33^{ABC}$	$99.86 {\pm} 2.59^{\rm BC}$	$31.94{\pm}2.69^{D}$	$30.89 {\pm} 3.78^{D}$
Freeze-dried	$101.65 \pm 5.31^{ABC}$	$109.45 \pm 2.05^{A}$	$102.69 \pm 3.62^{ABC}$	96.56±4.24 <sup>C</sup>	$105.62 \pm 6.93^{ABC}$
Sucrose					
(mg/g DW)					
Untreated	Not determined	$59.44{\pm}4.62^{AB}$	$41.77 \pm 3.44^{B}$	Not determined	13.62±9.21 <sup>C</sup>
Freeze-dried	Not determined	$69.17 \pm 13.84^{A}$	$60.23{\pm}14.12^{AB}$	Not determined	$63.95{\pm}17.40^{AB}$
Note: Different letters within the same row stand for significant differences (p <					
0.05).					

*Table 5. Concentration of D-glucose, D-fructose and sucrose expressed in mg/g DW. P1 -Powder 1, P2 -powder 2, P3 -powder 3, Fro -Frozen, Fre -Fresh and FD -Freeze-dried sample* 

#### 3.5 Sensory evaluation

#### 3.5.1 Sweetness

The aim of performing a sensory analysis on sweetness of the different lucuma samples was to investigate whether it was possible to see any relationship between the results from sensory test of sweetness and the chemical profile of D-glucose, Dfructose and sucrose. However, the results from the sensory test of sweetness showed no statistical difference between the samples even though the content of Dglucose, D-fructose and sucrose was varying between many of the samples. This is thought to be due to too few panellists and that an untrained panel was used for the sensory analysis. The total sugar content was not analysed in this study, neither the content of sugar alcohols such as myo-inositol. There could therefore be other molecules that contributes to sweetness but those were not analysed. According to the suppliers the sugar content of P1 is 33.9 g/100 g, P2 -31.6 g/100 g and frozen pulp 15.4g/100 g which is a relatively big difference. However, the powders were reconstituted with 60 % which makes the content/100 g more similar. Additionally, it is hard to tell how big the difference of sweet perceiving molecules must be in order to give a difference in the sweetness. It could also be further explored whether the matrix of the samples could have an impact on the perception of sweetness, if the cells are more ruptured and the sugar molecules and sugar alcohols were less bound.

#### 3.5.2 Characteristics

The panel discussion from the sensory test focusing on characteristics resulted in an agreement on five to six attributes for each category (aroma, texture and taste) for the six samples together. The attributes agreed on by the sensory panel during the panel discussion was for aroma: dried fig, wood, raisin, cereals and fermented fruits, for texture: paste, creamy, mealy, satiating and smooth, and for taste: sweet, dried figs, muscovado, acidic, bitter and dried rosehip. The sweet taste is probably due to the relatively high sugar content (approxemately 30 g/100 g for P1 and P2 and 15 g/100 g for the frozen pulp according to the suppliers). The acidic flavour can be described with the low pH which was around 5. Phenolic compounds is sometimes giving a bitter taste, therefore the high content of TPC can be related to the same flavour attribute (Minatel et al. 2017).

According to Singh (2017) the main aroma attributes in twelve different lucuma powders were buttery, sweet, caramelized, waxy, green, nutty, and cucumber. None of these attributes are the same that the panel in this study agreed on. However, the attributes: cucumber, sweet, green, nutty and caramelized were present during the panel discussion. According to Duarte & Paull (2015) the taste of lucuma is described as maple and caramel. These attributes were not discussed in this panel discussion.

Most previous studies and literature found about lucuma is originating from South and North America. There could therefore be a cultural reason for the difference in the chosen attributes. Or the reason could simply be because an untrained sensory panel was used in this study.

### Conclusion and future perspectives

From this study it can be concluded that the composition of lucuma depends on the variety or biotype, the stage of ripeness as well as the processing that has been performed on the pulp. Regarding health, TPC content and AC values are higher when the fruit is less ripe, which would indicate that this is the best format of raw material for further product development. However, the taste of the fruit is not pleasant before the fruit is fully ripe. To avoid the powdery texture the fresh or frozen fruit would be more suitable for further product development, however the TPC and AC was indicated to be the lowest in the frozen pulp. In order to find the most suitable raw material for product development of a value-added lucuma product, more studies have to be done. There are still many composites and bioactive compounds of lucuma that would be interesting to examine, such as fibre content, carotenoids, vitamin B3 and some minerals. The glycaemic index of lucuma would also be valuable to get a better understanding. As a part of the product development, it would also be helpful to study properties such as phase separation and composition of starch since carbohydrates are the main composites. Additionally, there is no standardized way of deciding when the fresh lucuma fruit is fully ripened. If performing more studies comparing these three different forms (powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp) of lucuma it would be suggested to decide on the same ripening stage for all the fresh fruits that are used as well as using a mix of pulp from different fruits when performing the analysis of the fresh fruits. To get an even broader understanding, it would be interesting to try different extraction methods for the TPC and AC analysis and for the D-glucose, D-fructose and sucrose analysis. At last, to add a sustainability aspect, a life cycle analysis of the different forms of lucuma could be performed to find the most sustainable alternative.

#### References

- Aguilar-Galvez, A., García-Ríos, D., Janampa, C., Mejía, C., Chirinos, R., Pedreschi, R. & Campos, D. (2021). Metabolites, volatile compounds and in vitro functional properties during growth and commercial harvest of Peruvian lucuma (Pouteria lucuma). *Food Bioscience*, 40, 100882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbio.2021.100882
- Alegre Caballero, M.G. & Del Carmen Ticse Aguilar, A.M. (2017). Caracterización de macrocomponentes en pulpa congelada de tres biotipos de lúcuma (Pouteria lucuma)". Universidad San Ignacio De Loyola. San Lorenzo, Paraguay. https://repositorio.usil.edu.pe/items/70c39b1a-c926-4aef-ba21-22091b1a52f4 [2022-05-18]
- AOAC, B. A. M. (2000). Association of official analytical chemists. Official methods of analysis, 12.
- Arias, A., Feijoo, G. & Moreira, M.T. (2022). Exploring the potential of antioxidants from fruits and vegetables and strategies for their recovery. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 77, 102974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2022.102974
  Baron, B. (2021). Spectrum Method vs. QDA. Sensory Spectrum.
- https://www.sensoryspectrum.com/post/spectrum-method-vs-qda [2022-04-14]
- Borbor Ponce, M.M.B. (2017). Variacíon morfológica y molecular de la lúcuma (pouteria lucuma [R et. Pav] O. Kze) y su contribución al manejo sustentable de los huertos de yaután y laredo. Universidad Nacional Agraria La Molina, Lima, Peru. http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12390/1907
- Callisaya, D.M. (2021). Effecto de tres métodos de escarificación de la semilla de lucumo (Pouteria lúcuma (Ruiz y Pav.) Kuntze) en el centro experimental de cota cota. Universidad mayor de san andrés. La Paz, Bolivia. http://repositorio.umsa.bo/xmlui/handle/123456789/25861
- Capuano, E., Oliviero, T. & van Boekel, M.A.J.S. (2018). Modeling food matrix effects on chemical reactivity: Challenges and perspectives. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 58 (16), 2814–2828.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2017.1342595

- Cisneros, F.H., Estrada, M., Pimentel, U. & Torres, Y. (2021). Hurdle Technology Applied to Lucuma (Pouteria Lucuma) Fruit Pulp: Microbial Aspects. *Journal of Culinary Science & Technology*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2021.1978365
- Del Castillo Málaga, R.A. (2006). *Estudio técnico de la producción de harina de lúcuma en la sierra de Piura*. Universidad de Piura. Peru.

https://pirhua.udep.edu.pe/handle/11042/1486 [2022-05-18]

- Dini, I. (2011). Flavonoid glycosides from Pouteria obovata (R. Br.) fruit flour. Food Chemistry, 124 (3), 884–888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.07.013
- Distribuidora Latinoandina (2020). Fruttimania Frozen Lucuma Pulp. https://distribuidoralatinoandina.com/en/products/frozen-en/fruttimania-frozenlucuma-pulp/ [2022-05-06]
- Duarte, O. & Paull, R.E. (2015). Exotic fruits and nuts of the New World. https://doi.org/10.1079/9781780645056.0000
- Durán-Soria, S., Pott, D.M., Osorio, S. & Vallarino, J.G. (2020). Sugar Signaling During Fruit Ripening. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 564917.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.564917

- FONA International (2018). *Flavor Insight: Lucuma FONA International* | *Flavor First.* https://www.fona.com/flavor-insight-lucuma/ [2022-04-21]
- Fuentealba, C., Gálvez, L., Cobos, A., Olaeta, J.A., Defilippi, B.G., Chirinos, R., Campos, D. & Pedreschi, R. (2016). Characterization of main primary and secondary metabolites and in vitro antioxidant and antihyperglycemic properties in the mesocarp of three biotypes of Pouteria lucuma. *Food Chemistry*, 190, 403–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.05.111
- Galluzzi, G. & López Noriega, I. (2014). Conservation and Use of Genetic Resources of Underutilized Crops in the Americas—A Continental Analysis. *Sustainability*, 6 (2), 980–1017. https://doi.org/10.3390/su6020980
- García-Ríos, D.H. (2016). Caracterización de algunos metabolitos primarios y secundarios en dos variedades comerciales de lúcuma (Pouteria lucuma). Universidad nacional agriaria la molina. Lima, Peru. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Caracterizaci%C3%B3n-de-algunos-metabolitos-primarios-y-R%C3%ADos-H%C3%A9ctor/ea210c842b951889ea290a45b40d838d3f29627f [2022-05-22]
- García-Ríos, D., Aguilar-Galvez, A., Chirinos, R., Pedreschi, R. & Campos, D. (2020). Relevant physicochemical properties and metabolites with functional properties of two commercial varieties of Peruvian *Pouteria lucuma. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 44 (6). https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.14479
- Gómez-Maqueo, A., Bandino, E., Hormaza, J.I. & Cano, M.P. (2020). Characterization and the impact of in vitro simulated digestion on the stability and bioaccessibility of carotenoids and their esters in two Pouteria lucuma varieties. *Food Chemistry*, 316, 126369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.126369
- Granato, D., Santos, J.S., Maciel, L.G. & Nunes, D.S. (2016). Chemical perspective and criticism on selected analytical methods used to estimate the total content of phenolic compounds in food matrices. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 80, 266–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2016.03.010
- Guerrero-Castillo, P., Reyes, S., Acha, O., Sepulveda, B. & Areche, C. (2021). Agroindustrial waste seeds from Peruvian Pouteria lucuma as new source of phytosterols. *LWT*, 144, 111259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111259
- Inga, M., Aguilar-Galvez, A. & Campos, D. (2021). Postharvest maturation of Pouteria lucuma: Effect of storage conditions on physicochemical components, metabolites and antioxidant and hypoglycemic capacity. *Scientia Agropecuaria*, 12 (3), 411– 419. https://doi.org/10.17268/sci.agropecu.2021.045
- Kafkas, N.E., Kosar, M., Öz, A.T. & Mitchell, A.E. (2018). Advanced Analytical Methods for Phenolics in Fruits. *Journal of Food Quality*, 2018, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3836064
- Konica Minolta (n.d.) Spectrophotometer CM-700d/600d Instruction Manual. https://sensing.konicaminolta.us/wp-content/uploads/cm-700d\_instruction\_eng-54pn5p743t.pdf [2022-05-16]
- Lavado Soto, M.A., Yenque Dedios, J.A. & Robles Calderón, R. (2012). *Estudio de rendimiento de harina de lúcuma a partir del fruto fresco*. Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos. Lima, Peru. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/307180398\_Estudio\_de\_rendimiento\_d

e\_harina\_de\_lucuma\_a\_partir\_del\_fruto\_fresco [2022-05-22]

- Lutz, M., Hernandez, J. & Henriquez, C. (2015). Phenolic content and antioxidant capacity in fresh and dry fruits and vegetables grown in Chile. *CyTA-Journal of Food*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19476337.2015.1012743
- Machado Annechini, I., de Lima Dutra, M.B. & Salazar Rios, R. (2021). Influence of drying temperature on lucuma (Pouteria lucuma) flour quality. *Revista Alimientos Hoy*, 30.

https://www.acta.org.co/acta\_sites/alimentoshoy/index.php/hoy/article/view/605 [2022-05-22]

- Maza-De la Quintana, R. & Paucar-Menacho, L. (2020). Lucuma (Pouteria lucuma): Composition, bioactive components, antioxidant activity, uses and beneficial properties for health. *Scientia Agropecuaria*, 11 (1), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.17268/sci.agropecu.2020.01.15
- Megazyme. (n.d.) Sucrose, D-fructose and D-glucose assay procedure. K-SUFRG 04/18. https://www.megazyme.com/documents/Assay\_Protocol/K-SUFRG\_DATA.pdf [2022-05-16]
- Minatel, I.O., Borges, C.V., Ferreira, M.I., Gomez, H.A.G., Chen, C.-Y.O. & Lima, G.P.P. (2017). Phenolic Compounds: Functional Properties, Impact of Processing and Bioavailability. I: Soto-Hernndez, M., Palma-Tenango, M., & Garcia-Mateos, M. del R. (red.) *Phenolic Compounds - Biological Activity*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/66368
- Minestario de desarrollo agrio y riego. (2021) Análisis de mercado lucuma. Peru. https://cdn.www.gob.pe/uploads/document/file/2801081/AN%C3%81LISIS%20 DE%20MERCADO%20L%C3%9ACUMA%202021.pdf.pdf [22-05-2022]
- National Research Council (U.S.) (red.) (1989). Lost crops of the Incas: little-known plants of the Andes with promise for worldwide cultivation. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press.
- Pavón, J., Pavón, J. & Ruiz, H. (1798). Flora Peruviana, et Chilensis, sive, Descriptiones et icones plantarum Peruvianarum, et Chilensium, secundum systema Linnaeanum digestae, cum characteribus plurium generum evulgatorum reformatisauctoribus Hippolyto Ruiz, et Josepho Pavon. Madrid: Typis Gabrielis de Sancha,. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.814
- Pinto, M.D.S., Ranilla, L.G., Apostolidis, E., Lajolo, F.M., Genovese, M.I. & Shetty, K. (2009). Evaluation of Antihyperglycemia and Antihypertension Potential of Native Peruvian Fruits Using *In Vitro* Models. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 12 (2), 278– 291. https://doi.org/10.1089/jmf.2008.0113
- Rojo, L.E., Villano, C.M., Joseph, G., Schmidt, B., Shulaev, V., Shuman, J.L., Lila, M.A. & Raskin, I. (2010). Original Contribution: Wound-healing properties of nut oil from Pouteria lucuma: Wound healing oil from lucuma plant. *Journal of Cosmetic Dermatology*, 9 (3), 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1473-2165.2010.00509.x
- de la Rosa, L.A., Moreno-Escamilla, J.O., Rodrigo-García, J. & Alvarez-Parrilla, E. (2019). Phenolic Compounds. Postharvest Physiology and Biochemistry of Fruits and Vegetables. Elsevier, 253–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813278-4.00012-9
- Silliman, B. (1831). *The American Journal of Science and arts*. Vol. 20. Yale: Kline Geology Laboratory, Yale University.
- Singh, G. (2017). Sensory and consumer evaluation of lucuma powder as an ingredient for ice cream in the United States. Kansas state university, USA. https://hdl.handle.net/2097/41879
- Singleton, V.L. & Rossi, J.A. (1965). Colorimetry of Total Phenolics with Phosphomolybdic-Phosphotungstic Acid Reagents. *American Journal of Enology* and Viticulture, 16 (3), 144 http://www.ajevonline.org/content/16/3/144.abstract [2022-01-25]
- Somjai, C., Siriwoharn, T., Kulprachakarn, K., Chaipoot, S., Phongphisutthinant, R., Chaiyana, W., Srinuanpan, S. & Wiriyacharee, P. (2022). Effect of drying process and long-term storage on characterization of Longan pulps and their biological aspects: Antioxidant and cholinesterase inhibition activities. *LWT*, 154, 112692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.112692
- Vallespir, F., Rodríguez, Ó., Eim, V.S., Rosselló, C. & Simal, S. (2019). Effects of freezing treatments before convective drying on quality parameters: Vegetables with different microstructures. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 249, 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2019.01.006
- Vivero (n.d.) Membrillo Var. Lucuma (Cydonia Oblonga Var.)

http://www.viveroshippus.cl/tienda/arboles-frutales/419-membrillo-var-lucumacydonia-oblonga-var.html [2022-03-03]

- Vuong, Q.V., Hirun, S., Roach, P.D., Bowyer, M.C., Phillips, P.A. & Scarlett, C.J. (2013). Effect of extraction conditions on total phenolic compounds and antioxidant activities of Carica papaya leaf aqueous extracts. *Journal of Herbal Medicine*, 3 (3), 104–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hermed.2013.04.004
- Willett, W., Rockström, J., Loken, B., Springmann, M., Lang, T., Vermeulen, S., Garnett, T., Tilman, D., DeClerck, F., Wood, A., Jonell, M., Clark, M., Gordon, L.J., Fanzo, J., Hawkes, C., Zurayk, R., Rivera, J.A., De Vries, W., Majele Sibanda, L., Afshin, A., Chaudhary, A., Herrero, M., Agustina, R., Branca, F., Lartey, A., Fan, S., Crona, B., Fox, E., Bignet, V., Troell, M., Lindahl, T., Singh, S., Cornell, S.E., Srinath Reddy, K., Narain, S., Nishtar, S. & Murray, C.J.L. (2019). Food in the Anthropocene: the EAT–Lancet Commission on healthy diets from sustainable food systems. *The Lancet*, 393 (10170), 447–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31788-4
- Xu, B.J. & Chang, S.K.C. (2008). Total Phenolic Content and Antioxidant Properties of Eclipse Black Beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) as Affected by Processing Methods. *Journal of Food Science*, 73 (2), H19–H27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00625.x
- Yahia, E.M. & Guttierrez-Orozco, F. (2011). Lucuma (Pouteria lucuma (Ruiz and Pav.) Kuntze). Postharvest Biology and Technology of Tropical and Subtropical Fruits. Elsevier, 443–450e. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857092885.443
- Yapias, R.J.M., Rodríguez, P.C., Victorio, J.P.E. & Astete, J.M.A. (2021). Lúcuma (Pouteria lúcuma): Potencial bioactivo y agroindustrial del valle interandino peruano. *Ciencia Latina Revista Científica Multidisciplinar*, 5 (2), 1250–1266. https://doi.org/10.37811/cl rcm.v5i2.326
- Zhang, B., Zhang, Y., Li, H., Deng, Z. & Tsao, R. (2020). A review on insoluble-bound phenolics in plant-based food matrix and their contribution to human health with future perspectives. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 105, 347–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2020.09.029

#### Popular science summary

Lucuma (*Pouteria Lucuma*), known as the gold of the Incas, is an ancient fruit from the Andean region of Latin America. It is sweet and the flavour is often described as maple-like or caramel-like. Lucuma is a popular flavour in ice-creams in Peru and is commonly used in sweets and pastries. The colour of the pulp is varying from pale yellow green to orange and the texture resembles boiled egg yolk. The skincolour is varying from green to yellow and the shape is round or elliptical, almost like something between an avocado and mango.

Lucuma has been increasing in popularity in the global West the recent years, it is marketed as a superfruit with a beneficial nutritional composition. It is referred to as high in fibre, phenolic compounds, carotenoids, vitamins, minerals and with a high antioxidant capacity.

The fresh fruit has a limited shelf life and is sensitive to transportation. Therefore, it is common to use lucuma powder (dried pulp) or frozen lucuma pulp instead of the fresh pulp for product development in industry. There are two main varieties of lucuma: Seda (which is soft in its texture and mostly used for fresh consumption) and Palo (which is firm in its texture and more commonly used for production of powder and frozen pulp). There is a big lack of knowledge in how the composition of lucuma is changing in the different forms (powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp) and varieties of lucuma.

The company Aventure AB together with the Bolivian organization Swebol biotech is now starting a collaborative project. The aim of the project is a new healthy lucuma based product that can be a part in the promotion of Bolivian innovation, production and public health.

The aim of this thesis was to compare and analyse different forms (powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp) of lucuma fruit from different producers, as a part in the development of a value-added lucuma product that promotes Bolivian innovation. To do this the composition of three different powders, frozen pulp and fresh pulp were used. Dry matter content, energy content, pH, viscosity and colour as well as total phenolic compounds (TPC), antioxidant capacity (AC) and the three different sugars; sucrose, D-fructose and D-glucose were analysed. Two sensory tests were performed to evaluate the sweetness of the different forms of lucuma, and to find descriptive words for the characteristics of lucuma regarding aroma, texture and flavour.

To summarise the main findings of this study, the dry matter content and the energy content was differentiating the most between the powders compared to the frozen and fresh samples. The same pattern was seen for the pH and the colour. The TPC content and AC value was highest in the fresh sample, therefore it seems like processing has an impact on TPC and AC. Regarding sugars it was seen that in most of the samples the content of D-glucose was the highest, followed by D-fructose and sucrose in descending order.

According to the sensory test, there were no difference in sweetness between the samples. The descriptive words agreed on by the sensory panel during the panel discussion was for the category aroma: dried fig, wood, raisin, cereals and fermented fruits, for texture: paste, creamy, mealy, satiating and smooth, and for flavour: sweet, dried figs, muscovado, acidic, bitter and dried rosehip.

It can be discussed whether the differences in the results are due to the processing used on the samples during production (drying, freezing, blanching etc.), or due to different varieties or biotypes in the different raw materials analysed, or due to different maturity stages of the fruits used for the raw materials. According to previous studies all these factors can have an impact on the composition of the fruit.

The conclusion of this study was that the composition of lucuma is varying between the different forms (powder, frozen pulp and fresh pulp) analysed. This is probably due to processing technique, variety and biotype, and grade of maturity. However, to get a better understanding for what form of lucuma is more suitable as the raw material in product development when including health, sensory, technical and sustainability aspects more research is needed.



*Figure 12. The different products used for analysis. (a) Powder 1, (b) Powder 2, (c) Powder 3, (d) Frozen pulp and (e) Fresh fruits.* 





Figure 13. Standard curve with mg gallic acid equivalents (GAE).



Figure 14. Standard curve with mg Trolox equivalents (TE).

#### **PROCEDURE:**

Wavelength:	340 nm	
Cuvette:	1 cm light path (glass or plastic)	
Temperature:	~ 25°C	
Final volume:	2.42 mL (D-glucose)	
	2.44 mL (D-fructose)	
Sample solution:	4-80 µg of sucrose + D-glucose + D-fructose	
-	per cuvette (in 0.10-1.00 mL sample volume)	

Read against air (without a cuvette in the light path) or against water

Pipette into cuvettes	Blank sucrose sample	Sucrose sample	Blank D-glucose/ D-fructose sample	D-Glucose/ D-fructose sample		
solution 6* (β-fructosidase) sample solution	0.20 mL -	0.20 mL 0.10 mL	-	- 0.10 mL		
Mix** and incubate for 5 min (NOTE: before pipetting solution 6, first warm it to 25-30°C). Then add:						
distilled water (at ~ 25°C) solution 1 (buffer)	2.00 mL 0.10 mL	1.90 mL 0.10 mL	2.20 mL 0.10 mL	2.10 mL 0.10 mL		
solution 2 (NADP /ATP)	0.10 mL	0.10 mL	0.10 mL	0.10 mL		
Mix** and read absorbances of the solutions (A1) after approx. 3 min and start the reactions by addition of:						
suspension 3 (HK/G6P-DH)	0.02 mL	0.02 mL	0.02 mL	0.02 mL		

Mix<sup>\*\*</sup> and read the absorbances of the solutions (A<sub>2</sub>) at the end of the reaction (approx. 5 min). If the reaction has not stopped after 5 min, continue to read the absorbances at 2 min intervals until the absorbances remain the same over  $2 \min^{***}$ .

#### Then add:

suspension 4 (PGI)	-	-	0.02 mL	0.02 mL

Mix\*\* and read the absorbances of the solutions (A3) after approx. 10 min.

\*Pipette both solution 6 and sample solution into the bottom of the cuvette and mix by gentle swirling.

\*\* For example with a plastic spatula or by gentle inversion after closing the cuvette with a cuvette cap or Parafilm<sup> $\mathbb{R}$ </sup>.

\*\*\* If the absorbance continues to increase, this may be due to effects of colour compounds or enzymes in the sample. These interfering substances may be removed during sample preparation.

Gender		
You are served five different cam	noise of lucume and three different reference samples you are	acked to rate the sweetness of the samples
0-15 point scale, where the refere	ences corresponds to 2, 7.5 and 15.	asked to fate the sweethess of the samples
15		
Have some water and water befo	re and between each sample.	
First try the reference. Take a sip	of each at the time and let it stay in your mouth for some seco	nds.
Try the samples in the order the	/ show in the form.	
	0	
sample 589		
sample 589 sample 605	0	
sample 589 sample 605 sample 726	•	
sample 589 sample 605 sample 226 sample 396	•	
sample 589 sample 605 sample 726 sample 396 sample 223		

*Figure 15. Questionnaire for the sensory evaluation of sweetness.* (*https://www.questionpro.com/t/AVKkuZr3xh*)

### Characteristics of lucuma 30/3

You are going to be served six different samples of the fruit lucuma in lidded plastic containers. First you will try the samples individually, one by one, following the instructions below. Second, we will have a discussion and conclude the opinions of the group.

Drink water and eat some wafers before and between the samples.

Start with the sample on the left, write the number, and answer the two questions. Then continue with each sample one by one.

- 1. Open the lid of the container and smell the sample. Write down any words to describe the aroma.
- 2. Take a spoon full and taste the sample. Write down any words to describe the texture.

Sample nr	Aroma	Texture	Taste/Flavour

3. Write down any words to describe the taste/flavour.

To show that you are done, put the lid back on all the containers.



Figure 16. The setup for the sensory test and panel discussion evaluating the characteristics of lucuma.

#### Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. Read about SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://www.slu.se/en/subweb/library/publish-and-analyse/register-and-publish/agreement-for-publishing/</u>.

 $\boxtimes$  YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 $\Box$  NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.